FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/6/2019 8:55 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

97124-2

Appellate No.777408 SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON Superior court No. 16-4-00659-4

In Re: Estate of Margaret Rai-Choudhury:
Deceased

Stephanie Inslee, Steven Avery, Shepherd and Allen, Respondent,

V.

Khashon Haselrig, Petitioner,

Petition for Review

Khashon Haselrig 809 NW 153rd Terrace Edmond Oklahoma 73013 405-618-2722

2. Statement of Relief Sought

Vacate judgement of Court admitting the copy of a lost or destroyed will without notice, hearing, or evidence. Vacate the judgement disinheriting the heir to 98% of probate assets and only blood relative of the decedent named in her currently probated will. App A.

3. Facts Relevant to Petition

Margaret Raichoudhury died November 25, 2016 CP(9). Roughly one year before her death she altered previous will after becoming paranoid someone was tampering with it, according to police report CP(234), after being admitted to the hospital for infection.

Remade will had 3 beneficiaries, Mr. Haselrig, UBC, and Linda Borland. 98% of assets were left to Mr. Haselrig because UBC's portion was deducted by receipt of non-probate assets CP(13) which made up the majority of the decedent's assets. Linda Borland entitled to \$10,000 or roughly 2% of the probate assets CP(13, 153). It also named Stephanie Inslee as personal representative, though she has never met decedent.

Steven Avery, the lawyer that drafted Margaret's last known and now missing will did not inform any family members of her death, that the will he drafted for her could not be found, nor the contents of that missing will. Mr. Avery admitted a copy of the lost or destroyed will to probate without notice to any interested party Dec 19, 2016 CP(28). Stephanie Inslee, then represented by Mr. Avery, avoided acting as a moving party to prove her lost will was not intentionally revoked as required by statute and common law, further established in Estate of Bowers, 132 Wn. App. 334, 343 (Wash. Ct. App. 2006). She received non intervention powers for a lost/destroyed will without a hearing or bond. Mr. Haselrig pointed out anomalies in valuation and disposal of assets to the probate court, including allowing a cat to be killed and unwanted cremation CP(437).

Steven Avery did not inform Indira Raichoudhury that only a copy will existed and that the original will had been lost. Steven Avery did not apprise any interested parties of their rights given the circumstances in this case were of a lost will before he already admitted the copy to probate CP(201). No documentation exists or was provided that Steven Avery informed anyone the original will was lost or destroyed *prior* to admitting it to probate ex parte on Dec 19, 2016 CP(28, 35, 39).

The Feb 10, 2017 Probate Court, when asked if it was a "...final hearing" stated "No..." SA(Feb 10, 2017 pg 25). Stephanie Inslee never

acted as moving party as a proponent of the copy of the lost/destroyed will SA(Feb 10, 2017 pg. 15-16, 19) CP(138, 352) App (L, M) and no finding of fact occurred CP(56) with respect to revocation of the lost or destroyed will now being probated. Mr. Haselrig does not take any financial benefit if the copy of the lost or destroyed will is not probated CP(13).

Mr. Haselrig brought a second motion because the issue of notice wasn't specifically addressed following his initial motion in the Feb 10, 2017 order (and Armstrong v. Manzo 380 U.S. 545, 550 (1965) required the motion be granted). Stephanie Inslee sought to disinherit Mr. Haselrig after that second motion, despite the fact he was the only blood heir in the will and bequeathed with nearly 100% of assets CP(13).

Will incorrectly names Mr. Haselrig as a minor and offers provisions for higher education CP(14), at the time the will was *drafted* in 2015 he was a college graduate and employed as an airline pilot. Counsel for Stephanie Inslee falsely asserted to the Court a hearing took place prior to Feb 10, 2017. This is incorrect, Mr. Haselrig acted as the moving party the first time argument of any kind was presented to the Court, and that was on Feb 10, 2017 SA(Feb 10, 2017 pg. 15) CP(56).

4. Grounds for Relief and Argument

A. Issues Presented for Appeal

Did the Court err in determining a party proffering a lost/destroyed will does not ever need to act as a moving party or in any way participate in a fact finding hearing to prove their will was unintentionally lost or destroyed, thus departing from all previous published decisions? (Pg. 5-10)

Did the court err in ignoring the precedent set by Armstrong v. Manzo 380 U.S. 545, 550 (1965) by determining a motion which is not granted can substitute for legal notice or a requisite hearing, such that it departs from the decision of the U.S. Supreme Court? (Pg. 5-10)

Did the Court err in ignoring the precedent set by Armstrong v. Manzo 380 U.S. 545, 550 (1965) by determining the burden of proof can be reversed from statute and established standards found in Estate of Bowers, 132 Wn. App. 334, 343 (Wash. Ct. App. 2006), thus conflicting with the U.S. Supreme Court and Division I? (Pg. 6-8)

Did the Court err denying the voidability of decisions that fail to adhere to statutorily defined notice, such that it conflicts with Division 1 in Estate of Little and Estate of Hesthagen? (Pg. 10-14, 17-20)

Did the Court err in concluding that a will contest can occur without a finding of fact as to the reason for a lost/destroyed will's disappearance or touching any of the provisions outlined in RCW 11.24.010, thus departing from Division I in Estate of Little, 127 Wn. App. 915, 922 (Wash. Ct. App. 2005)? (Pg. 10-14)

Did the Court err in concluding an in terrorem clause can be applied to Mr. Haselrig for correcting a statutory failure without finding he acted in bad faith or made any false statements, thus damaging public policy? (Pg. 14-20)

Argument

Mr. Haselrig's understanding of the Court's decision is as follows, and it is by this understanding he seeks redress. The Court considers Mr. Haselrig to have attempted a will contest and that this case is not comparable to In re Estate of Little, 127 Wn. App. 915, 920, 113 P.3d 505

(2005) because the complaint has been initiated while the probate is open. It is unclear if the Court believes Steven Avery somehow gave statutorily required notice since he never conducted the required hearing under RCW 11.20.070 and 11.96A.110, or if it believes the motion to correct the notice defect on Feb 10, 2017 cured the infirmity in due process. Either way the Court regards the Feb 10, 2017 motion as a will contest hearing which it finds generally similar to other will contests.

B. "[I]f a party contests the admission of the will to probate, generally that same party may not file a later will contest."

Generally this is true, but this is a special case, possibly of first impressions in Washington. The opposition seeks to argue "that whatever constitutional infirmity resulted from the failure to give the petitioner notice had been cured by the hearing subsequently afforded to him upon his motion to set aside the decree. 371 S.W.2d, at 412." Armstrong v. Manzo 380 U.S. 545, 550 (1965) The Supreme Court finds "We cannot agree." Id at 551. In Armstrong the petitioner in that case failed to appeal the denial of his motion against defective notice but got a separate hearing at a later date to call witnesses and give depositions Id at 548, not even that occurred here. Here the Feb 10, 2017 motion initiated by Haselrig was (apparently) expected to produce all relevant declarations and testimony at that moment, to be judged with burdens of proof reversed from statute.

Generally the party presenting a lost or destroyed will utilizes the correct procedure set forth in RCW 11.96A.110/11.20.070, which Steven Avery failed to do here. "Instead, the petitioner was faced on his first appearance in the courtroom with the task of overcoming an adverse decree entered by one judge, based upon a finding of [...]another judge." Armstrong v. Manzo 380 U.S. 545, 551 (1965). On Feb 10, 2017 Mr. Haselrig, joined by Indira, motioned the Court recognize the copy of the missing/destroyed will was admitted without hearing or notice on Dec 19, 2016 CP(56). He also motioned the Court to recognize that Mr. Avery's Dec 19, 2016 petition stating only "The original will has not yet been located" CP(29) App (I) was not commensurate with the standards of proof found in Bowers at 343 (Wash. Ct.App. 2006). Thus Haselrig motioned that the Dec 19, 2016 order be vacated and the estate proceed intestate as a matter of law until legally proven otherwise CP(56).

It is an incontrovertible fact that Stephanie Inslee has never acted as the moving party SA(Feb 10, 2017 pg 15-16, 18) CP(138, 352) App (L, M) nor has she been required "to prove [a lost or destroyed will] was not revoked" Bowers 343. "Had the petitioner been given the timely notice which the Constitution requires, the [respondents], as the moving parties, would have had the burden of proving their case as against whatever defenses the petitioner might have interposed. See Jones v. Willson, 285

S.W.2d 877; Ex parte Payne, 301 S.W.2d 194."Armstrong v. Manzo 380 U.S. 551. In this case 20 days prior notice required in RCW 11.96A.110 was reduced to not even 24 *hours* as spurious claims were made at the Feb 10, 2017 proceeding SA(pg 14) and heirs and beneficiaries did not even have time to prepare declarations which could have challenged assertions, because the theory of unintentional destruction required by statute and confirmed in Bowers at 343 was never given Transcript Feb 10, 2017 pg. 10. Only affidavits of execution were given App (I). Nor were such documents appropriate at a motion concerning a basic matter of law.

Likewise the burden of proof for lost or destroyed wills was reversed as though the copy of the missing will had already been legally proven. Instead of adhering to established case law in Bowers at 343 "the statute requires the proponent of a lost or destroyed will to prove it was not revoked" the Feb 10, 2017 Court instead found "[n]o evidence has been submitted to this Court that the . . . Will was lost or destroyed under circumstances such that the loss or destruction had the effect of revoking the will..." (emphasis added) CP(138). "The burdens thus placed upon the petitioner were real, not purely theoretical. For 'it is plain that where the burden of proof lies may be decisive of the outcome.' Speiser v. Randall, 357 U.S. 513, 525. Yet these burdens would not have been imposed upon him had he been given timely notice in accord with the Constitution."

Armstrong at 551 (1965). A person doesn't first prove they are innocent, and people don't first prove a missing will is revoked, both are assumed by law. Affidavits of execution don't explain *why* the will is missing.

"A fundamental requirement of due process is "the opportunity to be heard." Grannis v. Ordean, 234 U.S. 385, 394. It is an opportunity which must be granted at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner. The trial court could have fully accorded this right to the petitioner *only by granting his motion to set aside the decree and consider the case anew.*Only that would have wiped the slate clean. Only that would have restored the petitioner to the position he would have occupied had due process of law been accorded to him in the *first place*. *His motion should have been granted*." Armstrong v. Manzo380 U.S. 545, 551 (1965)(emphasis added)

i. Why This is Not a General Case

The Court correctly notes "[I] f a party contests the admission of the will to probate, generally that same party may not file a later will contest." However it is not *generally* required to have a proceeding to correct a due process failure, prior to the actual finding of fact required to admit a lost or destroyed will to probate under the RCW, as was attempted here. In Estate of Black153 Wn. 2d 152, 159 (Wash. 2004) they examined witnesses and whether or not they remembered meeting the decedent, same with In re Hall's Estate 34 Wn. 2d 830 (Wash. 1949), that didn't

happen on February 10, 2017 or ever with respect to will destruction and revocation. Even in Armstrong v. Manzo they set a later hearing after the motion to call witnesses and take depositions, but that was *still* ruled unconstitutional. *Generally* the hearing admitting a lost will is a finding of fact directly concerning the submitted copy and the proponent of a lost or destroyed will is the moving party Bowers at 343, that wasn't the case here CP(56). At the same time, generally there is likely not a specific statement by the presiding judge that the proceeding is not final as occurred in this case App (N).

Transcript February 10, 2017 page 25

MS. COPPINGER CARTER: You feel the burden was met by -- I just want to clarify because, obviously, this is not the final hearing.

THE COURT: No. I understand you'll be back on a TEDRA or something.

It is not reasonable to disregard the statement of that same Court that the decision is not final while also accepting its ability to nullify notice statutes and reverse burdens of proof.

The problem is the lost or destroyed will was admitted by *avoiding* the required hearing at the point of admission on Dec 19 2016 CP(28, 39, 35-36), and the first time interested parties appeared in court it was in a motion on Feb 10, 2017 to alert the Court to the failure of due process in

admitting the lost or destroyed will without a hearing or evidence, not to find fact as to whether the will was destroyed with intent to revoke or not CP(56). The statement of Stephanie Inslee's counsel at that proceeding:

"So first, they have presented no declarations, no affidavits, no facts to support their arguments and their pleadings." SA (Feb 10, 2017 pg 10)

"...there is no dispute and they've not even tried to argue that this is not her last will that was executed..."SA (Feb 10, 2017 pg 17)

Inslee states in her appellate response pg. 27 "Haselrig provided no evidence or argument that the copy filed was not a true and correct copy of the original."

Without a finding of fact there can be no will contest, if a contest occurs, it must still comply with the burdens set forth by statute, anything less leaves "a jurisdictional defect as to [beneficiaries], rendering the decree of distribution void." Hesthagen v. Harby 78 Wn. 2d 934, 942 (Wash. 1971)(internal citations omitted).

C. Finch Compared to Little

Let us first examine In re Estate of Finch, 172 Wn. App. 156, 162, 294 P.3d 1 (2012) and the points relevant to the Court as well as any other salient characteristics.

In Finch a doctor directly attacked the will based on testamentary capacity of the executor to draft a will Id(162-164), Haselrig did not. In Finch that doctor directly attacked the execution of a will by stating necessary witnesses were never there Id at 162-164, Haselrig did not. In Finch the same doctor was not a beneficiary of the will Id at 162-164, Haselrig is CP(13). In Finch the doctor stood to profit by invalidating the will Id at 163, Haselrig does not. In Finch three separate examples are given where the will is directly attacked Id at 162-164, here there is not even one. In Finch it would prevent a malpractice suit against the will challenger Id at 163, while Mr. Haselrig stands to gain nothing if the lost or destroyed will is not proven according to statute and the common law standard in Estate of Bowers, 132 Wn. App. 334, 343 (Wash. Ct. App. 2006). Haselrig didn't try to say the execution witnesses *never* validated the will like in Finch, he said that execution affidavits don't preclude destruction and presumption of revocation afterwards based on statute Bowers at 343. Finch occurred during an open probate but that wasn't relevant to concluding it was a will contest. The Court specifically declined to address timing at all. "[W]e need not address the timing issue." Id at 164.

In re Estate of Little, 127 Wn. App. 915, 920, 113 P.3d 505 (2005) the personal representative failed to notify heirs according to statute, the

same applies here CP(No documents prior to ex parte lost will admission Dec 19, 2016). In Little beneficiaries wanted to restart the probate so it could proceed fairly according to law Id at 919, the same applies here CP(56). In Little they sought to replace the personal representative Id at 919, the same applies here CP(56). In Little no finding of fact occurred as to whether the testator destroyed and revoked a will Id at 919, the same applies here CP(No documents of any fact finding hearing explaining why will was missing). Unlike Little this matter is brought prior to close of the probate, but Mr. Haselrig does not see where that is given as the actual reason Little does not consider the complaint a will contest, and no specific statement from Little appears to support that inference. Likewise Finch didn't conclude the doctor was attacking the will because it was "prior to the closure of probate, so his motion must be considered a will contest." Court opinion (Feb 25, 2019) App (F). Otherwise RCW 11.24.010 could be rewritten more simply as "Attempts to invalidate a will are any complaints prior to close of a probate." It doesn't appear any case law is present to support that inference.

i. Will Invalidations and Contests

Looking at what constitutes invalidating a will under RCW 11.24.010 "Issues respecting the competency of the deceased to make a last will and testament, or respecting the execution by a deceased of the

last will and testament under restraint or undue influence or fraudulent representations..." The common thread is that all attacks or attempts to invalidate a will require a finding of fact directly concerning the will.

Once found true it would require the impossible redrafting of a will after the testator is already dead to correct, invalidating it. In the case at bar, the lost or destroyed will could be admitted after removal from probate because the defect is *not* in the copy will or its drafting CP(56) but in the failure of due process in the probate Court itself. Failure to force "the proponent of a lost or destroyed will to prove it was not revoked" Bowers at 343 CP(56). It's a complaint about admission method, not the copy will.

No finding of fact with respect to the revocation or validity of the will or testator was considered in Little or the case at bar, ergo neither can be will contests. "The court said, "all I'm going to do is appoint the [personal representative] . . . and you go where you will go from there."

Little at 919.

In Finch specific arguments were quoted to prove intent to invalidate Finch at 162-164. Here there is no direct citation of argument proving Mr. Haselrig attacked any items under RCW 11.24.010, and multiple statements that declarations are not even present at an alleged fact finding hearing SA(Feb 10, 2017 pg 10), and overt statements the copy is not itself under attack SA(Feb 10, 2017 pg. 17), yet Haselrig is accused of

attempting to contest a lost/destroyed will only because his complaint occurred during an open probate. This is outside the scope defined by RCW 11.24.010, and no argument is made in Finch or Little that a will contest is defined as a complaint carried out during an open probate.

After Feb 10, 2017 Res judicata was incorrectly invoked CP(352) to prevent any finding of fact as to whether or not the will was destroyed with intent to revoke, a point which was not and has never been argued. No proof a finding of fact took place with respect to revocation has been provided, and Stephanie Inslee has never acted as a moving party or had to act as "the proponent of a lost or destroyed will to prove it was not revoked." Bowers at 343. If a will contest may somehow legally occur without following statute, certainly a will contest cannot have occurred without a fair finding of fact and without determinations of credibility of witnesses or theories of unintentional destruction. If it can Mr. Haselrig is not aware of any such case law besides the precedent this case will set.

D. Public Policy

Public policy can be defined as the general principles by which a Government is guided that operate to benefit the general welfare or the individual welfare. Acts are against public policy if they intend to promote breach of the law, the policy behind the law, or to harm the state or its citizens.

Asking the Court to force compliance with the law is not in itself a will contest, but even if this Court finds it is, then allowing that to trigger an in terrorem clause stands in direct contravention to the public policy principles of enforcing the laws as written and upholding due process.

The Washington State Constitution states that the US Constitution is the "Supreme Law of the Land" and mandates that justice shall be administered "openly." Section 32 of the Washington Constitution states, "A frequent recurrence to fundamental principles is essential to the security of individual right and the perpetuity of a free government." Mr. Haselrig would ask this Court recognize the case of Parker v. Benoist 160 So. 3d 198, 204 (Miss. 2015) which references both Washington case law and numerous other jurisdictions some of which have adopted the Uniform Probate Code. It gives an extremely comprehensive thesis on the rights of beneficiaries and the roles of in terrorem clauses.

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