FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/28/2019 4:11 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUPREME COURT NO. 97124-2

(Court of Appeals, Div. I, No. 77740-8-I) (Whatcom County Court Case No. 16-4-00659-4)

In Re the Estate of: MARGARET RAI-CHOUDHURY

Deceased.

KHASHON HASELRIG, Petitioner,

vs.

STEPHANIE INSLEE, Personal Representative, Respondent.

PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE'S ANSWER TO HASELRIG'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Douglas R. Shepherd Heather C. Shepherd Shepherd and Allen 2011 Young Street, Ste 202 Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 733-3773

June 28, 2019

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

CP 1. Avery asked the probate court to establish or refuse to establish the Will. RCW 11.20.020. In initially admitting the Will, the probate court made the following findings and orders:

The original will has not yet been located. However, the Affidavit of Witnesses of Steven D. Avery, Amanda Dykstra and Melissa Sophusson, dated December 13, and 16, 2016 constitutes all of the testimony submitted in support of the Last Will and Testament of decedent. . . . The offered Will is established as decedent's Last Will and is admitted to probate: . . . The Affidavit[s] . . . in support of Decedent's Will is certified as adequate to prove such Will.

CP 29.

On December 19, 2016, the Will was filed for probate. CP 11.

When offered on December 19, 2016, the probate court was required to take proof, by affidavit, of the execution and validity of the Will, after notice to interested persons. RCW 11.20.070. Prior notice was given to Indira and Haselrig that Avery was seeking admission of the copy Will, and would be filing the probate upon receiving the appropriate affidavits. CP 62.

On January 7, 2017, Avery e-mailed Haselrig copies of all pleadings filed in the probate, including the required notice, and asked Haselrig if he would like copies by mail. CP 63; CP 117.

On January 18, 2017, Borland, Haselrig, UBC and Indira were provided copies of the Notice of Withdrawal and Substitution for new counsel, as well as the Notice of Appointment of Personal Representative and Pendency of Probate. CP 44.

On January 23, 2017, Haselrig appeared in this action through counsel Lisa Saar (Saar). CP 50. On January 25, 2017, Haselrig moved the trial court to convert the probate into an intestate probate, to remove Inslee as PR, and to be granted nonintervention powers. CP 55. In part, Haselrig argued the copy of the Will did not establish, by clear, cogent and convincing evidence, that the Will was not intentionally revoked. *Id*.

On February 7, 2017, Avery, under oath, provided the following facts to the probate court. At Margaret's instruction, Avery prepared her Will, her Durable Power of Attorney for Health Care, her Durable General Power of Attorney, and her Health Care Directive and Supplement. CP 59. The documents were signed by Margaret on July 21, 2015. *Id.* Before preparing the documents and witnessing their execution, Avery met with Margaret four (4) times. *Id.* The documents were consistent with Margaret's instructions, wishes and intentions. *Id.* Margaret instructed Avery that Indira should have no portion of her estate, and should be given no authority or power over Margaret or Margaret's estate. CP 60. At no time after July 21, 2015, did Avery receive instructions or information from Margaret about changes, modifications or destruction of any of the above four documents, including the Will. CP 61.

The Will was witnessed by Sophusson and Dykstra. Both declared under penalty of perjury that Margaret appeared to be of sound mind and under no duress or undue influence. CP 3; CP 5; CP 59; CP 88; CP 479; CP 493. The other three documents were notarized by Avery, who stated under oath that Margaret's signature was her free and voluntary act. The other witnesses again declared that Margaret had the appropriate capacity and was not acting under any duress or undue influence. CP 59; CP 87; CP 88; CP 90; 99; CP 106; CP 107.

On February 10, 2017, Indira joined in Haselrig's motion(s). CP 129. If Haselrig's motion(s), and Indira's joinder were successful, Haselrig would have received nothing from Margaret's estate, and Indira would have received the entire Estate by intestate succession. In her Joinder, Indira also alleged she had not been timely or properly notified of probate proceedings. CP 130. Indira provided the probate court a January 6, 2017, letter from Indira's attorney to Avery, wherein Indira's attorney stated the Will offered contained "several off bequests that further support the decedent's mental illness." CP 134. Clearly, as of January 6, 2017, Haselrig and Indira, were aware of the probate and the terms and conditions of the Will.

On February 10, 2017, after the initial decision, and written objections by Haselrig and his mother Indira, the probate court took additional written evidence and heard argument from counsel for Inslee, Indira, and Haselrig.² RCW 11.20.070; CP 58; CP 136; 02/10/2017 RP.

On February 10, 2017, at a hearing where both Haselrig and Indira

appeared through counsel, the probate court made the following findings

and decisions:

01. Proof of the execution and validity, including its contents and authenticity, of the July 21, 2015, Last Will and Testament of Margaret Rai-Choudhury, has been proven by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence, by and through the following:

a. A copy of the Last Will and Testament of Margaret Rai-Choudhury, which was executed consistent with RCW 11.20.020;

b. Affidavit of Attesting Witness (Steve Avery), filed December 19, 2016;

c. Affidavit of Attesting Witness (Melissa Sophusson), filed December 19, 2016;

d. Affidavit of Attesting Witness (Amanda Dykstra), filed December 19, 2016;

e. Declaration of Steve Avery, filed February 7, 2017;

f. Second Affidavit of Amanda Dykstra - Attesting Witness, filed February 7, 2017; and,

g. Second Affidavit of Melissa Sophusson - Attesting Witness, filed February 7, 2017.

 $^{^2}$ After Margaret's death, Indira, living out of state, wrote to Avery as follows: "when are you going to change the locks on the house because somebody has been in the house and opened the safe and taken all the documents out of the safe." 02/10/2017 RP 14. It would be appropriate for the probate court to conclude that Indira, the only person to gain from a lost will, had entered Margaret's home, entered Margaret's safe, and was aware of documents being removed from the safe.

02. No evidence has been submitted to this Court that the July 21, 2015, Will was lost or destroyed under circumstances such that the loss or destruction had the effect of revoking the will.

03. The July 21, 2015, Last Will and Testament of Margaret Rai-Choudhury should be admitted to probate.

04. The Letters Testamentary, granted to Stephanie Inslee on December 19, 2016, should not be revoked.

05. There is no cause shown for removal of Stephanie Inslee as Personal Representative of the Estate.

06. The further relief requested in the motion should be denied.

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED THAT: Haselrig's Motion for Removal of PR of Estate, Appoint New PR; Revocation of Testate Probate; and Issue Order, be, and hereby is, denied.

CP 136-38. The above February 10, 2017, Findings and Order were not appealed by Haselrig.

On March 20, 2017, Indira filed a Will Contest action under

Whatcom County Superior Court Cause No. 17-2-00481-9 (Will Contest).

Appendix C; CP 507. On May 18, 2017, Inslee, as PR, moved in the Will

Contest action for partial summary judgment and sanctions on causes of

action (1), (2) and (4) above. CP 156. Inslee also asked for attorney fees

and costs pursuant to CR 11 and RCW 4.84.185. CP 166.

Contained within and attached thereto, in support of Indira's responsive pleadings, was a supportive Declaration of Khashon Haselrig, filed in the Will Contest. CP 175; CP 206.

On June 19, 2017, more than four months after the probate court's ruling denying Haselrig's motion for removal of the personal

representative, Haselrig filed his Motion to Void Fraudulent Admission of Copy Will, Removal of Personal Representative, Obtain Full Accounting and Impose Sanctions. CP 244. Haselrig argued he was "[r]obbed of notice of pendency [and] I was unable to raise my objections." CP 248.

On July 19, 2017, Haselrig filed his Addendum to: Motion to Void Fraudulent Admission of Copy Will, Removal of Personal Representative, Obtain Full Accounting and Impose Sanctions. CP 276. Haselrig's caption in that pleading included attorneys Doug Shepherd, Heather Shepherd, Bethany Allen, and Steven Avery as defendants. In that pleading Haselrig made allegations against counsel for Inslee, and attempted to name them as parties in the probate. *Id.* Haselrig alleged Steven Avery, Douglas Shepherd, Heather Shepherd and Bethany Allen, were involved in efforts "to enrich themselves by way of fraud," and the attorneys for Margaret and her Estate, including the undersigned attorney were involved in knowing and intentional misconduct damaging to the public and the legal profession. CP 276. Further, Haselrig argued the Estate's counsel "flawlessly" lied to the probate court. CP 278.

On August 22, 2017, Haselrig filed a Motion to Strike Defendants' Responses and Receive Default Judgment in Favor of Plaintiff's Motion to Void Fraudulent Admission of Copy Will, Removal of Personal Representative, Obtain Full Accounting and Impose Sanctions. CP 336. In that pleading, Haselrig requested "barring Shepherd & Allen from any further pleadings and entering a default judgment in accordance with the relief sought in the motion filed by the plaintiff over two months ago on June 20th 2017." *Id.*

On August 25, 2017, Judge Raquel Montoya-Lewis entered two

orders. In her first order, Judge Montoya-Lewis determined that:

- 1. Haselrig's above two pleadings contain the wrong caption.
- 2. Haselrig is not the plaintiff in this probate action.
- 3. Stephanie Inslee, Doug Shepherd, Heather Shepherd, Bethany Allen and Steven Avery are not defendants in the probate action;
- 4. Washington law does not allow Haselrig to make any due process claims against Stephanie Inslee, Heather Shepherd, Doug Shepherd, Bethany Allen or Steven Avery in this matter.
- 5. Washington procedural law, including CR 6 and CR 59(b), does not allow this Court to reconsider the Order of February 10, 2017, as the above pleadings were filed and served more than ten (1) days after February 10, 2017.
- 6. Haselrig SHALL NOT file any more pleadings in this matter, listing himself as a plaintiff and/or Doug Shepherd, Heather Shepherd, Bethany Allen and Steven Avery as defendants.

CP 389.

In her second order, Judge Montoya-Lewis determined Haselrig's motion to void fraudulent admission of copy will "is not well grounded in fact or law, and should be denied in its entirety." CP 394. Further, Judge Montoya-Lewis determined that Haselrig's June 19, 2017, motion, which again sought to invalidate Margaret's Will and proceed intestate, should be and was denied. CP 393.

On September 20, 2017, Inslee filed her Motion for Judicial Determination, asking the probate court to determine whether Haselrig's pleadings, motions and arguments, as a matter of law, violated the no contest clause in Margaret's Will. CP 407.

On October 10, 2017, Haselrig filed [his] Counter Motion for Removal of Stephanie Inslee and All Associates Pursuant to RCW 11.28.250, and to Deny PR's Motion for Judicial Determination. CP 437.

In support of that counter-motion, Haselrig filed a Declaration of Prosenjit Rai-Choudhury, his grandfather and Margaret's ex-husband. CP 448.

On November 3, 2017, the trial court determined that:

01. The pleadings filed by, and arguments made by, Khashon Haselrig, repeatedly contested and attempted to invalidate the Decedent's Last Will and Testament.

02. Margaret Rai-Choudhury's Last Will and Testament, contained a No Contest Clause.

03. The pleadings filed by, and arguments made by, Khashon Haselrig, violate the No Contest provision of Decedent's Last Will.

04. Pursuant to the No Contest Clause, Khashon Haselrig is barred from receiving any property belonging to Decedent's Estate.

CP 471. Haselrig also seeks review of the November 3, 2017, Order on

Judicial Determination of Will Contest.

Apparently, Haselrig also (untimely) asks this Court to review and

reverse the trial court's and the appellate court's (Division 1) probate

decisions because he allegedly did not have sufficient notice. Division I,

in an unpublished decision, stated:

Khashon's argument that RCW 11.20.070 was violated and that the will was improperly admitted to probate was considered by the trial court and rejected in its February 10, 2017 order. "[I]f a party contests the admission of the will to probate, generally that same party may not file a later will contest. The party's only remedy is to appeal the order admitting the will." Black, 153 Wn.2d at 170. Khashon did not appeal that order. It became final. "A final order from which no appeal is taken becomes the law of the case." Tornetta v. Allstate Ins. Co., 94 Wn. App. 803, 809, 973 P.2d 8 (1999). We therefore decline to consider Khashon's arguments that the will was improperly admitted to probate.

Matter of Estate of Rai-Choudhury, 7 Wn.App.2d 1052, 2, Not Reported

(Div. 1, 2019). The order was not appealed.

Haselrig argues this Court should review and reverse the probate

court and the appellate court (Division 1) decisions because Haselrig never

contested the will, and therefore enforcement of the "No Contest Clause"

was error. Division 1 stated:

Khashon cites In re Estate of Little, 127 Wn. App. 915, 920, 113 P.3d 505 (2005) in support of his argument that he did not initiate a will contest. In Little, unnamed heirs who were not notified of the decedent's death moved the court to appoint a new administrator six years after the estate was closed. Id. at 918-19. The appellate court declined to apply the limitations period in the will contest statutes, reasoning that this action was more akin to the law of vacating judgments. Id. ("The heirs have not yet brought a will contest and the trial court has therefore had no occasion to apply the law that governs will contests."). But, this case is more like Finch than Little. Like the physician in Finch, Khashon sought to invalidate a lost

will prior to the closure of probate, so his motion must be considered a will contest regardless of its label.

Id. at 3.

III – LEGAL AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT

A. Standard to Accept Petition for Review.

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court **only**:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b) (emphasis added).

B. Due Process.

The fundamental requisites of due process are "the opportunity to be heard," and "notice reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections," Thus, "at a minimum" the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment demands that a deprivation of life, liberty or property be preceded by "notice and opportunity for hearing appropriate to the nature of the case." Moreover, this opportunity "must be granted at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.

Matter of Deming, 108 Wn.2d 82, 96, 736 P.2d 639 (1987) (internal

citations omitted).

"Procedural due process requires notice and an opportunity to be

heard 'at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.' The process

due depends on what is fair in a particular context." *In re Detention of Morgan*, 180 Wn.2d 312, 320, 330 P.3d 774 (2014) (citations omitted).

The probate court has not deprived Haselrig of rights or benefits. Haselrig's motions asked the Court to invalidate the very document which gives him any rights as a beneficiary.

Haselrig was provided multiple opportunities to be heard and present his objections to the Will. The probate court heard his objections, and ruled against them. Haselrig challenged the validity of Decedent's Last Will in multiple pleadings, hearings and declarations. Inslee, by clear, cogent and convincing evidence, proved its validity. The February 10, 2017, Order was not appealed. Haselrig's untimely motion(s) to again invalidate Decedent's Last Will, were denied.

C. Notice and Opportunity to Be Heard.

Haselrig argues fundamental fairness and equity required the probate court to determine Margaret destroyed her Will with the intent that Haselrig get nothing and Indira get everything. This has to be the first time a beneficiary before a Washington court has argued that he wanted the probate court to conclude he should get nothing, and because the court did not so rule, he was treated unfairly and equity was ignored.

Haselrig's appeal relies on *In re Elliott's Estate*, 22 Wn.2d 334, 156 P.2d 427 (1945). However, a clear reading of the law of the case in

Elliott supports the decisions of the probate court and not the arguments of

Haselrig.

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